The Impact of COVID-19 on the New York City Family Court: Recommendations on Improving Access to Justice for All Litigants

The New York City Family Court COVID Work Group

A Joint Project of the New York City Bar Association and

The Fund for Modern Courts

TABLE OF CONTENTS

			Page
I.	INTRODUCTION		
II.	EXECUTIVE SUMMARY		3
III.	OVERVIEW		5
	(a)	Child Abuse and Neglect	6
	(b)	Custody, Visitation, Guardianship, and Domestic Violence	7
	(c)	Juvenile Justice	9
	(d)	Child Support	9
IV.	TIM	FIMELINE: THE COURT'S RESPONSE TO THE PANDEMIC1	
V.	CLA	CLASSIFICATION OF EMERGENCY MATTERS1	
VI.	COMMUNICATIONS		17
	(a)	At the Courthouse	17
	(b)	The Website	18
	(c)	Administrative Orders	19
	(d)	Reliance on Lawyers to "Spread the Word"	20
VII.	CHALLENGES WITH REMOTE OPERATION		21
	(a)	Staffing	21
	(b)	Family Court Staff Were Generally Unable to Work From Home	22
	(c)	Technology	22
	(d)	Filings	22
	(e)	UCMS Access	23
	(f)	Procedures in Remote Proceedings	25
VIII.	PRO	SE CHALLENGES	26
IX.	HOW THE COURT IS DEALING WITH THE BACKLOG		27
X.	CON	CONSEQUENCES IN PARTICULAR CASES	
XI.	LACK OF ACCESS TO FAMILY COURT NEGATIVELY AFFECTS REAL		
	LIVE	ES	31
XII.	RECOMMENDATIONS		34
XIII	ACKNOWLEDGMENTS		

I. INTRODUCTION

In December 2020, the New York City Bar Association Family Court Judicial Appointment & Assignment Work Group ("Work Group") issued a report giving voice to significant concerns about the process by which Family Court judges are appointed and assigned. Within a few months, however, it became apparent that the challenges addressed in that report paled in comparison to the alarming challenges posed by the COVID-19 pandemic. As detailed in a timeline below, for the better part of a year, the New York City Family Court (the "Family Court") largely heard only "essential" and "emergency" matters and was otherwise unavailable to many litigants. In light of the serious consequences for families and children unable to access the Family Court, the Work Group—jointly with the Fund for Modern Courts—embraced a new mandate: to shed light on the crisis in the Family Court, document and analyze steps that were taken (or not taken) in order to ensure access to justice during and subsequent to the worst months of the pandemic, and make recommendations for meaningful reform based on lessons learned.

In conducting its review, the Work Group interviewed institutional providers and legal service organizations working in the Family Court as well as members of the Assigned Counsel ("18-b") Panel in each borough. We prioritized hearing directly from the litigants themselves who have been impacted, some of whose experiences are detailed below. The Work Group also met with the Hon. George J. Silver, Deputy Chief Administrative Judge (NYC) and the

¹The Family Court Judicial Appointment and Assignment Process (December 15, 2020), available at https://www.nycbar.org/member-and-career-services/committees/reports-listing/reports/detail/the-family-court-judicial-appointment-and-assignment-process.

²We note up front that creating a timeline was a difficult and inexact exercise because of the nature of the pandemic itself, the fact that announcements by the Court were made both officially and informally, and the differences between what practitioners heard and what they observed. Moreover, by relying in part on an interview/survey format, the Work Group understands that some readers may feel that their experiences in certain respects—or at certain points along the timeline—were different from what is presented here. That being said, this is an important exercise, so that what occurred is not lost and forgotten but, instead, can serve as a basis for discussion, deliberation and reform. Lastly, we note that this report does not seek to provide information on events that have transpired since December 31, 2021, unless otherwise indicated. In other words, although we recognize that facts on the ground—both in terms of COVID-19 and court operations—are fluid, the timeline does have an end date.

³Members of the expanded Work Group include three former Family Court jurists, a pro bono counsel and pro bono partner from the law firms of Orrick, Herrington & Sutcliffe LLP and Proskauer Rose LLP, respectively, an executive from a major technology company, and members of the leadership teams from several of the New York City institutional providers of legal services for parents and children involved in Family Court litigation, including Brooklyn Defender Services, Lawyers For Children, the Legal Aid Society Juvenile Rights Practice, and the Children's Law Center, as well as the New York City Administration for Children's Services. A full list of members appears at the end of this report.

Hon. Jeanette Ruiz, Administrative Judge of the New York City Family Court. Based, in part, on these interviews and discussions, the Work Group used best efforts to create a timeline of events.

The purpose of this report is not to be critical for its own sake. The intent and hope are to be constructive, transparent, and honest. We must start with the proposition that most Family Court stakeholders are keenly aware of the deep inequities in that historically under-resourced court. Secretary Johnson's Equal Justice report, discussed in greater detail below, came as no surprise to many who practice in Family Court. But to see these deep inequities so quickly laid bare by the pandemic—with significant negative consequences for those who rely on Family Court—was deeply disturbing to many, particularly as they heard far different reports from colleagues who practice in other more-resourced parts of our state courts. We know that when COVID-19 hit, an under-resourced court like Family Court was ill-equipped to respond quickly, consistently, fairly, and comprehensively to the needs of all litigants. Under stressful and uncertain conditions, we know that difficult choices had to be made. And, in some cases, we know that the immediate efforts of bench and bar yielded responsive results, for example, when it came to ensuring that fewer juveniles would be in detention. We can both acknowledge these facts and remain firm in our belief that the pandemic illuminated significant inequities, shortfalls and a lack of readiness in Family Court, to the detriment of many. We need to take account and challenge ourselves to do better. That is the spirit in which this report was conceived and written.

With this in mind, the report aims to accomplish three things: first, to collect and give voice to the significant concerns raised by lawyers and litigants in Family Court, some long-standing and some triggered or exacerbated by the pandemic; second, to contribute to the critically important question of how to improve the reliability and effectiveness of a court that serves mostly poor, disenfranchised New Yorkers; and third, to recommend and support changes that we believe are achievable and necessary and already subject to broad consensus among Family Court stakeholders, discussed in greater detail below, but in summary:

- adopt NYSCEF, the electronic filing system used throughout much of the New York State Court system, in Family Court to the fullest extent permitted by law, with appropriate support for unrepresented litigants;
- provide the public with regular statistical reporting, by court Term, on all Family Court proceedings;
- build an effective, user-friendly website (including mobile website) that comprehensively
 informs the public of current court operations and provides guidance to unrepresented
 litigants;
- enable litigants without access to adequate technology to participate in remote proceedings by providing access to the appropriate technology;
- adopt a communications strategy to ensure litigants and attorneys are kept up to date on the status of their cases as well as the status of Court operations generally;
- provide enhanced training for jurists in case management strategies and techniques;

- assess the Court's needs with respect to remote proceedings to ensure that it purchases and utilizes up-to-date technology best suited for courtroom protocols, and provide sufficient user training and support;
- move judges, staff, and other resources from other trial courts as necessary and appropriate to tackle backlogs and delays;
- enact uniform procedural rules; and
- engage with stakeholders on a plan for the complete reopening of the Family Court.⁴

We emphasize, again, that nothing in this report should diminish the importance of those proceedings which did go forward during the pandemic and the efforts required to do so. According to the Family Court, it heard to completion over 102,000 cases from March 2020 to October 2021.⁵ This report highlights hard choices the Family Court made about what cases it could hear, focuses on those proceedings that did <u>not</u> go forward, and addresses the need—that long predates COVID-19—for increased Family Court resources and meaningful reform.

II. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

In his recent report examining institutional racism in the New York State Court system, which had been requested by Chief Judge Janet M. DiFiore, former U.S. Secretary of Homeland Security Jeh Johnson singled out a handful of under-resourced trial courts throughout the state, including the Family Court, and concluded that "[t]he picture painted for us was that of a second-class system of justice for people of color in New York State." Nowhere is this concept better

⁴Our recommendations are well supported by recent committee reports issued by the New York City Bar Association on issues such as the need for access to the UCMS system and uniform procedural rules governing in-person and virtual proceedings in the Family Court. *See* Letter to Judge Ruiz Regarding Equitable Access to Justice in the NYC Family Courts (June 15, 2021), available at https://www.nycbar.org/member-and-career-services/committees/reports-listing/reports/detail/letter-to-judge-ruiz; Letter to the Franklin H. Williams Judicial Commission Regarding their May 19, 2021, Meeting with New York City Family Court Stakeholders (June 15, 2021), available at https://s3.amazonaws.com/documents.nycbar.org/files/2020915-RacialEquityInCourtsWilliamsCommissionMtg.pdf.

⁵According to the Court, from March 16, 2020, to October 31, 2021, the Family Court issued 63,603 orders of protection, 93,941 extensions and modifications of orders of protection, finalized 576 adoptions, and fully adjudicated 22,559 support petitions, 2,957 guardianship petitions, 14,578 child abuse and neglect petitions, and 2,978 paternity petitions. To provide context, we compared those numbers—which span a 19-month period—with the 12-month period preceding the pandemic, as reflected in the New York State Unified Court System's 2019 Annual Report: in 2019, the Family Court finalized 906 adoptions, and fully adjudicated 57,519 support petitions, 3,758 guardianship petitions, 16,307 child abuse and neglect petitions, and 9,701 paternity petitions. We were unable to locate comparable data on orders of protection.

demonstrated than in how the Family Court has fared during the COVID-19 pandemic. To be clear, the pandemic has been as unprecedented as it has been cruel, and nothing in this report should suggest that the Family Court reasonably could have met the challenges faced by litigants without, at least initially, some disruption of service. What followed from COVID-19, however, was a significant shutdown of service in the New York City Family Court for a large number of litigants for an extended period of time. In other words, our findings and recommendations are a product of the deep inequities in Family Court that this crisis has laid bare.

When COVID-19 struck New York City in March 2020, the Family Court operated much as it had for decades. While other trial courts in New York, such as the Supreme Court, had embraced electronic filing, the Family Court had not. Prosecution of an action required the filing of a physical petition and in-person court appearances. Similarly, for those who wanted a copy of a court document, and for those unrepresented litigants who sought help filing papers, the Court was only accessible in person. Moreover, Court personnel were not equipped with the technology to enable them to work from home. Thus, at the start of the pandemic, when safety protocols led to the closure of public buildings, the Family Court faced enormous hurdles to simply function.

Given its limited technological and logistical capacity, once the pandemic hit, the Family Court allocated its resources to a limited number of "essential" cases, such as orders of protection and certain child protective and delinquency proceedings, which it heard remotely. Virtually all other cases—including most visitation, custody, adoption, guardianship, and support matters, as well as many child protective and termination of parental rights proceedings—were deemed "nonessential" and "nonemergency" and did not proceed. The bulk of pending "nonessential" cases therefore stagnated for months, many for almost a year, before being scheduled to be heard, and most new cases like these were not even accepted for filing. Although the Family Court accepted some applications deemed "emergencies" in these "nonessential" matters, it never defined what constituted an "emergency." Accordingly, while some creative lawyers were able to fashion their cases as "emergencies," the vast majority of litigants—especially unrepresented litigants who make up 80% or more of the court population—had virtually no access to the Family Court.⁶

In the end, the distinction between emergencies and nonemergencies became a false dichotomy, rationalizing delays that caused harm to thousands of families. For example, a child support matter is indeed an emergency for a family without financial support suffering from housing or food insecurity regardless of whether the Family Court deemed the matter to be an "emergency." Similarly, an emergency exists for a victim of domestic violence who is not receiving child support and thus has no means to leave their abusive home regardless of how the Family Court characterizes the filing. And while it might have seemed necessary to exclude most custody and visitation proceedings from the category of "emergencies," that is of no comfort to the parents and children who have not seen each other for months, or to children in physically or emotionally harmful custodial arrangements. At a time of crisis, when the vulnerable populations

4

⁶It is worth noting here that the overwhelming number of delinquency referrals were not included among the "essential" matters.

who routinely appear in Family Court needed help the most, the courthouse doors were largely closed.

Making matters worse, the Family Court struggled to develop an effective system to disseminate updates and guidance to the public. People were turned away from courthouses with limited information. Even now, the Family Court's website provides limited and often unclear information on the status of the Court's operations and offers only limited guidance for unrepresented litigants.

The website is just one example of the Family Court's technological challenges. The Family Court struggled with its transition to remote proceedings given staffing shortages, the challenges staff faced working remotely, and the use of cloud-based conferencing platforms ill-suited to their purpose. Of grave impact was the inability of many lawyers to access orders or documents electronically on their cases. The Court's decision to not authorize widespread access to its Universal Case Management System ("UCMS"), which is not an electronic filing system but does enable users to immediately view and print all signed orders and documents, imposed an impossible burden on providing effective representation. While some institutional and agency lawyers have access to UCMS, many do not. Even during "normal" times, lawyers and unrepresented litigants should have access to court files electronically as they do in the Supreme Court. But during the pandemic—when physical access to court documents has been limited—it became a problem of utmost urgency that the Family Court still seemed to be struggling to address. Nor has the Court yet implemented a system to facilitate electronic filing and to eliminate UCMS as a relic of a bygone era.

What distinguishes the Family Court, of course, is that the litigants are primarily unrepresented. Pre-COVID, the Help Center, or pro se petition room, served a critical role assisting the public, including helping file various court documents. Since the beginning of the pandemic, that essential assistance has been greatly curtailed. Moreover, remote proceedings have presented special challenges to some unrepresented litigants who lack adequate access to technology. While nonprofit organizations have helped to some degree, unrepresented litigants continue to have difficulty navigating the system and getting information about their cases. This is especially problematic given the long delays resulting from the substantial backlog of cases now facing the Family Court.

III. OVERVIEW

This overview illuminates the real damage caused by the extended cessation of Family Court operations for so many litigants during COVID-19. These consequences can only be fully appreciated with an understanding of the intensive workload and frenetic pace of the Court and its impact on the lives of families and children pre-COVID.

New York State Family Court has jurisdiction over a range of subject matters that are vital to the lives of children and families, including child abuse and neglect, termination of parental rights, adoption, domestic violence, custody, visitation and guardianship, paternity, child support, and juvenile justice.

The caseload in New York City Family Court is enormous. In 2019, there were a total of 192,000 filings in the City's five counties. Because that caseload is far too large to be handled by the 56 statutorily authorized Family Court Judges alone, a variety of other judicial officers also preside over certain matters. These judicial officers include judges on temporary assignment from other courts as well as "Court Attorney-Referees," "Judicial Hearing Officers," and "Support Magistrates." Before the pandemic, there were approximately 135 Court "Parts" presided over by these judicial officers in Family Court. During the first month of the pandemic, there were just three, expanding to five in mid-April, seven in early June, and eleven later that month.

Since Family Court cases have drastic impacts on families—including the temporary or permanent removal of a child from the care of their parent—and since time frames in the life of a child are pronounced, Family Court practice and procedure, informed in part by statutory mandates, aspire to avoid delays and seek swift results. Highlighted below are some of the most important relevant Family Court proceedings.

(a) Child Abuse and Neglect

When a parent (or caregiver) is charged with child abuse or neglect, a case may be filed pursuant to Article 10 of the Family Court Act ("FCA") by the City's Administration for Children's Services ("ACS"). In egregious cases of "imminent risk" to the child, the agency has the power to perform an "emergency removal" of the child from the parent and to place them into foster care without a Court order. In such cases, the parent must be notified immediately and

⁷These include 3,119 delinquency cases, 60,000 child support and paternity cases, 53,260 custody and visitation cases, 24,414 Article 8 family offense cases, and 14,084 Article 10 child abuse and neglect matters. New York State Unified Court System 42nd Report 2019 Year, Annual Report of the Chief Administrator of the Courts, available at https://www.nycourts.gov/legacypdfs/19_UCS-Annual_Report.pdf.

⁸The number of Family Court Judges in New York City is fixed by the New York State Legislature. FCA §§121 and 131. In 2014, the allotment was increased from 47 to 56, which remains inadequate to meet the demand. To address this need, the Office of Court Administration ("OCA") has resorted to creative measures. On the judicial level, OCA has developed a system of designating New York City Civil Court Judges as Acting Family Court judges and temporarily assigning them to Family Court. Approximately ten serve at any given time. OCA has also created "Court Attorney-Referee" and Judicial Hearing Officer ("JHO") positions. Referees are appointed to their positions by OCA and serve subject to the court's supervision. JHOs are retired judges who serve part-time and per diem to assist the court. Referees and JHOs primarily conduct preliminary proceedings in custody, visitation, guardianship, and domestic violence cases. Additionally, upon consent of the parties, Referees and JHOs can conduct trials. There are approximately 45 Referees and JHO's citywide. Support Magistrates are specifically authorized by statute to hear child support cases. (FCA §439). They are appointed by the Chief Administrative Judge to a five-year term (22 NYCRR 205.32). There are currently approximately 25 Support Magistrates serving citywide.

ACS must commence a legal proceeding within 24 hours. At any time, the parent is entitled to request a formal hearing to contest the removal pursuant to FCA §1028, which must be held within 72 hours of the request.

Where an ex parte removal is not effectuated prior to the filing, ACS may recommend at the initial appearance to have the child remain in the parent's care upon certain Court-ordered conditions or it may seek an order to remove the child. In the latter instance, a formal expedited hearing is conducted (FCA §1027).

Ultimately, whether a child is removed or not, unless the matter is settled, a trial ("fact-finding hearing") must be conducted. If the parent is found to have committed the act of neglect or abuse, then a "dispositional hearing" follows to determine the disposition that is in the best interests of the child.

Because of the overwhelming number of cases on judges' dockets, it is common to have more than a year or two pass between the time of the case's filing and the time of trial and disposition. However, during that time, the judge will preside over numerous conferences and interim proceedings and make rulings that significantly impact the lives of the children and their parents. During this time, continued ACS oversight is nearly a universal mandate by the Court.

For example, there may be preliminary hearings to consider whether certain conditions are necessary to keep a family intact and ensure safety for the child, such as supervised visitation, temporary orders of protection, or social service intervention programs to assist the family. If the child is placed in foster care, the Family Court must hold a "Permanency Planning Hearing" every six months, where it is determined whether the agency has made sufficient efforts to reunify a family and whether the situation triggering ACS's intervention has been remedied or the parent has been sufficiently rehabilitated to allow the child to safely return home.

If a child has remained in foster care for a significant period of time and the parent is deemed not to have made sufficient progress toward reunification of the family, proceedings may be brought to terminate the parental rights ("TPR proceeding") and allow a child to be adopted. Again, because of a lack of judicial resources, it might take several years to complete the case—a delay of particular consequence, since a family may be in limbo and a child may be without stability as a decision is being reached on whether their family will be kept together or the child will be adopted into a new family.

(b) Custody, Visitation, Guardianship, and Domestic Violence

Family Court is the main arbiter of custody and visitation disputes in our system. Such matters can run the gamut from serious allegations of domestic violence to irreconcilable differences in child rearing. Regardless of a case's particular nature, however, the life of a child,

⁹While Family Court does not have jurisdiction over matrimonial cases, it has concurrent jurisdiction with the Supreme Court over custody and visitation of children of unmarried parents. Additionally, even for married couples, custody disputes ancillary or supplemental to a divorce are often heard in Family Court.

already disrupted by the split in the family, remains in limbo until a stable outcome is achieved. For this reason, the Family Court has official rules regarding the trial of a custody and visitation case, which must be concluded within 90 days of commencement (22 NYCRR 205.14).

The original custody case, however, rarely concludes the matter. There can be any number of reasons for continued proceedings that extend the time frame in which custody cases can be concluded. For example, a noncustodial parent may assert the other is withholding legally mandated visitation with the child. Or a custodial parent may have a new job or social opportunity in another city, with their potential relocation necessarily affecting contact between the child and the other parent. Once again, the uncertain result in such cases can severely affect the child, making expeditious resolution of these proceedings essential.¹⁰

Similar temporal concerns arise in related contexts such as guardianships. A parent serving in the Armed Forces might at a moment's notice be deployed to another country. Or a parent might be deported, leaving their child behind. In each of these cases, all interested parties must be notified, and even if there is no objection to the guardian's appointment, the potential guardian's background must be explored before the Court may approve of their appointment. Sometimes the matter is contested, as when two relatives are fighting over guardianship, and a formal hearing is necessary.

While awaiting the outcome, the child's life remains uncertain. They may not be allowed to see the other parent or enroll in school, government benefits may be denied or delayed, or they may not be allowed to travel or obtain a passport or visa. Even more importantly, the emotional stability of the child may suffer while facing such uncertainties. For these reasons, Family Court strives to process such cases expeditiously.¹¹

Also requiring speedy resolution are cases involving domestic violence, which affect the rights of adults, and where children are often also the targets of or witnesses to violence in the home. Brought pursuant to FCA Article 8, they allow a party to seek an order of protection where there is a current or former "intimate relationship" with the alleged abuser. These cases can have dire consequences if delayed.

Such family offense proceedings are generally commenced ex parte with the petitioner seeking an order of protection. If an exclusionary order is issued, there will be an expedited

¹⁰If a person withholds custody of the child, a proceeding may be brought on by a writ of habeas corpus for immediate attention. If a party lives in another state, pursuant to the Uniform Child Custody Jurisdiction and Enforcement Act, there must be rapid consultation by the Family Court Judge with the judge in the other state to address the jurisdictional issues even before reaching the merits of the case.

¹¹Federal law provides "Special Immigrant Juvenile Status" to undocumented immigrant children who are present in the United States and who have been abused, abandoned or neglected by one or both parents. *See* 8 U.S.C. §1101(A)(27)(J); 8 C.F.R.§204.11. The Family Court must make a preliminary determination in a child's favor before the application is submitted to the United States Citizenship & Immigration Services, the federal agency that is authorized to grant SIJS relief. New York City Family Court receives hundreds of such applications.

return date scheduled to give the respondent an opportunity to be heard. These cases often result in time-sensitive hearings. Any delay in securing a final order leaves the victim(s) in a state of insecurity and peril; delays in addressing ex parte orders in situations where a respondent is wrongfully accused may result in that person improperly being excluded from their home or indefinitely separated from family members, including their children.

(c) Juvenile Justice

Family Court has jurisdiction over Juvenile Delinquency cases, i.e., the commission of an act by a person under the age of 18, which would be considered a crime if committed by an adult. While Family Court has long had jurisdiction over cases involving youth under the age of 16,¹² the historic Raise the Age legislation resulted in the expansion of Family Court's jurisdiction to include all misdemeanor charges brought against 17 and 18-year-old youth as well as those Adolescent Offenders in that age group who are charged with a felony and whose cases originated in the Youth Part of the Supreme Court.¹³ It also expanded juvenile justice operations to 365 days and nights a year, from what had been essentially a business-hours only court.¹⁴ These operations continued throughout the pandemic and returned to live in-person proceedings at Criminal Court on July 6, 2021. Because of the exposure to quasi-criminal liability, and the fact that youth can be remanded—separated from their parents and family without bail—while their cases are tried, the Family Court's speedy trial rules contain extremely short time frames that are strictly enforced.¹⁵

(d) <u>Child Support</u>

A critical component of Family Court's jurisdiction is its authority to issue and enforce orders of child support. For any parent, but particularly for the working class and those of limited means who make up most of the Court's litigants, adequate financial support is essential for their

¹²Legislation effective December29, 2021, amended Article 3 of the Family Court Act to increase the minimum age for a juvenile delinquency prosecution to 12 for all crimes except enumerated homicide crimes, which would retain their minimum age of seven.

¹³Eighty-four percent of all NYC youth Adolescent Offenders that originate in the Supreme Court Youth Parts have been removed to the Family Court.

¹⁴Night, weekend and holiday proceedings in Juvenile Justice cases are currently handled by the accessible magistrate in the Criminal Court. These proceedings were initially handled by the Family Court at the beginning of the pandemic.

¹⁵If a youth is remanded at the initial appearance, the respondent is entitled to a "probable cause hearing" within three days to justify any longer, continued remand. (FCA § 325.1). If the remand continues, trials must commence within three days for lower-level crimes or 14 days for higher-level felony charges. (FCA §340.1). Pretrial motions, such as hearings to suppress evidence illegally obtained or statements taken in contravention of the Fifth Amendment, must be promptly heard within these speedy trial parameters.

children's health and welfare and missed payments can have immediate and drastic consequences.

Support matters are initially heard before Support Magistrates. (FCA §439). Once a child-support obligation is imposed, proceedings can be brought for modification if there is a significant change in circumstances. Supplemental proceedings can also be brought if the obligor fails to pay the required child support. In such matters, a hearing is conducted by the Support Magistrate to determine if the failure to pay was "willful," which would subject the obligor to sanctions, including, in some cases, incarceration. ¹⁶ Due to the hardship imposed on a child for failure to receive child support, Family Court Rules impose strict deadlines for the conduct of a Violation petition, including that hearings commence within 30 days and conclude within 60 days thereafter. (22 NYCRR 205.43).

* * *

As discussed in detail below, many of the above-described proceedings were deemed to be "nonessential" and "nonemergency" matters that could neither proceed nor even be filed during much of the first year of COVID-19, leaving thousands of litigants in limbo without access to legally entitled remedies.

IV. TIMELINE: THE COURT'S RESPONSE TO THE PANDEMIC

Prior to the COVID-19 pandemic, litigants initiated cases in New York City Family Court by mail or at the courthouse itself by filling out a physical petition, often with the help of a clerk for those who were unrepresented.

March – April 2020: Beginning on March 16, 2020, for most cases and then on March 26, 2020, for all cases—as the COVID-19 pandemic spread across New York City—the Family Court closed its physical doors to the public, rendering in-person physical filings and court appearances impossible. Signs on the doors, first posted only in English, and then only in English and Spanish, notified litigants of the closure. Practitioners reported that thousands of people came to Family Court during the pandemic only to be turned away. By the end of March 2020, the Family Court opened three citywide virtual intake parts focused on Child Protection, Juvenile Delinquency, and Orders of Protection. Those three parts stood in lieu of the approximately 135 parts that operated pre-pandemic.

From the start of the pandemic, the Family Court distinguished between pending cases that were "essential" and those that were "nonessential." Nonessential cases could only proceed if deemed by the court to be "emergency" matters. "Nonemergency" matters were placed on indefinite hold. Thus, the Family Court administratively adjourned without return dates all "nonessential" matters filed before March 17, 2020, unless they were subsequently deemed to be an "emergency."

10

-

¹⁶A family Court Judge must confirm the determination of the Support Magistrate before sanctions can be imposed. (FCA §§439(a) and 454, et seq.).

During March and April 2020, the Court issued a series of administrative orders and press releases with a list of "essential matters," stating that the Court would accept "no new nonessential matters...[or] additional papers...in pending nonessential matters." The Court's definition of "essential matters" included: (1) new child protection cases involving removal applications, (2) new juvenile delinquency cases involving remand applications or modifications thereof, (3) emergency family offense petitions/temporary orders of protection, (4) Orders to Show Cause, and (5) stipulations on submission. The Court stated in a separate order that emergency Family Court cases would be heard by remote video appearance and/or by telephone, and it provided a telephone number and email address for litigants to use for any questions. ¹⁷

As a result, a vast number of pending Family Court cases deemed "nonessential"—including custody, visitation, guardianship, adoption, and support—were frozen for at least nine months, as were all new similar cases until they began to be calendared a year later, in spring 2021. Many of those cases were given return dates well into 2022 and then only for preliminary administrative issues such as return of service.

From the beginning of the pandemic, the Family Court also heard emergency applications on "nonessential" cases. However, as described in greater detail below, it was unclear what constituted an "emergency" in the so-called "nonessential" matters. It was left to the discretion of the individual jurist sitting in the Court's "Intake Part" that day to decide whether what was pleaded in an Order to Show Cause constituted an emergency and would be heard. Initially, the Court only heard "emergency" applications in pending cases. Clearly intended to restrict the number of filings in light of the Family Court's limited capacity, there was no substantive basis to distinguish between an emergency in a pending case and one where no case previously had been filed.

While the Family Court's handling of Juvenile Delinquency (Article 3) and Abuse and Neglect (Article 10) cases fared better, the physical closure and then the slow transition to virtual

^{1′}

¹⁷See AO/78/20 (March 22, 2020), available at https://nycourts.gov/whatsnew/pdf/AO-78-2020.pdf ("Pursuant to the authority vested in me, in light of the emergency circumstances caused by the continuing COVID-19 outbreak in New York State and the nation, and consistent with the Governor of New York's recent executive order suspending statutes of limitation in legal matters, I direct that, effective immediately and until further order, no papers shall be accepted for filing by a county clerk or a court in any matter of a type not included on the list of essential matters attached as Exh. A. This directive applies to both paper and electronic filings."); AO/85/20 (April 8, 2020), available at https://www.nycourts.gov/whatsnew/pdf/AO-85-20.pdf (directing that certain pending matters can proceed virtually; providing that no new nonessential matters may be filed until further notice; nor may additional papers be filed by parties in pending nonessential matters). See also Governor's Executive Order 202.8 (March 20, 2020) ("In accordance with the directive of the chief Judge of the State to limit court operations to essential matters during the pendency of the COVID-19 health crisis, any specific time limit for the commencement, filing, or service of any legal action, notice, motion, or other process or proceeding, as prescribed by the procedural laws of the state, including . . . the family court act . . . is hereby tolled...."), available at https://www.governor.ny.gov EO 202.8.pdf. These orders were continually extended until June 25, 2021.

courtrooms negatively affected those areas too. In the Juvenile Delinquency practice area, the cases in which remand (detention) of juveniles was sought were processed smoothly. Some advocates, however, advised the Work Group that they were aware of certain children who had been detained and whose length of time in detention increased as a result of the pandemic. Of note, at the beginning of the pandemic, the Family Court entertained motions brought by practitioners, who reviewed previously issued remand orders in light of the danger of congregate living during the pandemic. Our understanding is that this decreased the number of youths in custody by more than 50%.

Juvenile justice practitioners worked every day, night, weekend, and holiday with the Family and Criminal Courts. Every youth arrested and charged with a crime was afforded the opportunity to be considered for adjustment services by the Department of Probation, to be considered for release by the Law Department, and, ultimately, where those options were not available, to have their case decided by a Family Court judge in a virtual proceeding where they were represented by counsel; to accomplish this effort, Family Court judges took over night, holiday, and weekend court. ¹⁸ When grand juries were suspended, the Family Court conducted prepetition hearings, arraignments and probable cause hearings, each of which was deemed an essential matter. These virtual hearings were conducted in largely the same manner as when they were in-person. Remand cases remained on the Court's calendar and motions to advance matters outside the Court's administrative orders were granted for settlement and disposition. ¹⁹

ACS, which prosecutes child protective cases in Family Court, understood early on that the agency was effectively prohibited from filing cases in which it was not seeking a remand of the child into foster care. In situations where a child was arrested but a decision was made not to seek remand or other interim relief, no case would be filed and the matter and pending charges against the child were left in judicial limbo. Because of resource constraints and the resulting attempt by the Court to prioritize certain cases over others, a high percentage of Article 10 filings involved serious allegations of domestic violence or other physical harm, including sexual abuse. It was reportedly much more difficult to file Article 10 cases involving allegations considered to be less serious, such as educational neglect. The Work Group was informed that there were many instances where attorneys attempted to get such cases on the calendar to dispose of them because the relevant issues had been satisfactorily addressed but could not do so because there were no jurists available. In addition, in the first few weeks of the shutdown of the Family Court,

-

¹⁸The pandemic did create opportunities for some technological advancement, including the use of virtual proceedings. Technological capabilities acquired during the pandemic should be harnessed, finalized and tested to ensure access and safety for all who have crucial business with the Family Court.

¹⁹It is important to note that all youth in custody are represented by counsel. There is no question that those who were unrepresented during the pandemic fared worse than those who were able to retain counsel or were afforded representation due to the nature of their case.

²⁰These are called "court-ordered supervision cases"—those in which the child is alleged to be at risk of abuse or neglect, but an attempt is made to provide the services necessary to maintain the child safely at home, thereby avoiding removal.

statutorily mandated permanency hearings (required to be held every six months for youths in foster care) were missed—though that issue appears to have been addressed.

The Family Court's severely limited operations between March and April 2020 exacerbated the serious constitutional issues implicated whenever families are separated for extended periods of time. Attorneys for parents in Article 10 cases requested unsuccessfully that pending emergency hearings be completed rather than continuously adjourned. Moreover, the Family Court had no centralized calendar for identifying and effectively processing emergency cases. As a result, only the attorneys working on the cases had that information. Consequently, during the first few weeks of the Family Court shutdown, those attorneys provided the Family Court with daily lists of cases that should proceed to emergency hearings.

Statutorily expedited emergency hearings, such as 1027 and 1028 hearings that address vital liberty issues for families when their children are removed by ACS, were conducted by affidavit in truncated proceedings in virtual courtrooms. This was woefully inadequate to the Family Court's full consideration of parents exercising their statutory right to challenge the removal of their children. In addition, while there have in recent years more frequently been delays in scheduling required hearings in child protective cases, including 1027 and 1028 hearings, these delays have grown exponentially worse with the advent of the pandemic restrictions. Because the Family Court took the position that statutory time constraints were suspended, mandated hearings with speedy trial obligations of 24 to 72 hours were not being calendared for four weeks or longer.

With respect to orders of protection, the Court took steps from the beginning of the pandemic to ensure that these proceedings went forward. This effort included a central processing system for new matters and the use of telephone and, later, video proceedings.

<u>April – June 2020</u>: It is our understanding that by May 24, 2020, all jurists had returned to the courthouses except those with specific health concerns, and clerical staff had returned on a staggered basis.

The Family Court rolled out virtual courtrooms utilizing the "Skype for Business" platform in April 2020. However, it was not until May 2020 in Richmond County, and several months later for the larger boroughs, when each jurist had access to their own virtual link. In addition, Skype for Business was inadequate to the task because, among other things, it did not allow for the recording of proceedings. Severely limited resources were used to train staff and attorneys on Skype for Business only to have the Family Court transition to the "Microsoft Teams" platform in mid-December 2020 (as a result of the court system's statewide contract with Microsoft, which changed platforms). This only further aggravated the backlog of cases in the Family Court. One physical courtroom, fitted with plexiglass barriers, was available in each county to accommodate in-person proceedings.

In early May 2020, the Family Court began accepting "nonemergency" applications—but did not schedule them for court appearances—when the Court provided that applications related to pending child support matters could be submitted by email. In a notice on the Court's website dated May 13, 2020, the Court provided information on how to modify an order of support because of a change of circumstances. This update reiterated that the Family Court was not yet

scheduling cases involving child support but that the Court would update litigants when it began hearing those cases.

Significantly, the Family Court did not officially begin accepting all other nonemergency petitions, including custody, visitation, and guardianship and new support matters, until spring 2021, one year from the start of the pandemic. However, that did not stop litigants, primarily those with attorneys, from submitting them by mail and, beginning in May 2020, via the Electronic Document Delivery System ("EDDS"), when EDDS opened for the stated purpose of receiving support modification petitions. As the Court did not have any rejection protocol, those petitions sat dormant until the Court started docketing nonemergency cases in 2021. At that time, the litigants who submitted these cases during COVID—when they were officially not being accepted—were at the front of the line for scheduling. This is just one of many examples where pro se litigants were profoundly disadvantaged by the Court's process.

<u>August 2020</u>: On August 24, 2020, the Court transitioned from accepting support submissions by email to accepting them through EDDS. As explained in more detail below, EDDS is not an electronic filing system but simply a vehicle to submit papers that, in turn, are not "filed" until processed by Court personnel. EDDS is not user friendly, especially for unrepresented litigants.

Accordingly, between March and December 2020, the Family Court heard "essential" cases and "emergencies" within "nonessential" cases, but other cases were largely stuck in a holding pattern, even those that had been filed before the start of the pandemic. The Court has informed us that "most jurists continued to remotely advance existing cases in which appearances were not required." The lack of court appearances, however, combined with the limitation on filing applications and motions prevented all but a small number of these cases from moving forward. As a result, there is now a significant backlog of cases.²²

<u>December 2020</u>: In December 2020, the Family Court began to assign court dates to custody and visitation cases filed prior to March 17, 2020.

As mentioned above, the Family Court transitioned to Microsoft Teams by mid-December. Yet, that transition failed to provide critical functionality to litigants and their attorneys, including breakout rooms where attorneys could confer confidentially with their clients and where cases could be conferenced. Perhaps worse, judges reported not getting appropriate instruction and training on how to use the new software and technology. Some could not manage the technology, especially from home with no in-person support. Utilization was also

²¹Lawyers consistently told us that the Court officially began accepting all nonessential submissions in the spring of 2021—based in part on direct conversations they had with the Court—but we have not been able to locate any formal announcement or administrative order on point.

²²The Work Group has not been able to identify the specific number of backlogged cases, itself an issue, but suffice to say, it appears there are thousands of cases submitted prior to or after the onset of COVID that have been significantly delayed.

hindered because there was only one LAN technician in each county creating links, setting up equipment, rolling out laptops, establishing virtual courts and virtual private networks (VPN) to ensure confidentiality, and creating phone numbers for each virtual part.

<u>January – February 2021</u>: In January and February 2021, the Family Court began to assign court dates to child support cases filed prior to March 17, 2020.

March 2021: At the end of March 2021, the Family Court announced that it would begin scheduling custody, visitation and support cases that were submitted during the pandemic. Practitioners consistently informed us of significant delays in getting their cases on the calendar, and then, in many cases, only for preliminary administrative matters such as return of service. In one typical example, a litigant had submitted a child support application in July 2020 that was not scheduled for a first appearance until June 2021. Even if the application is ultimately successful, it is unclear whether and to what extent the litigant will be successful in obtaining retroactive relief.

July – October 2021: There was wide variation in how quickly new cases were being scheduled during this time period. For instance, one attorney noted that within a week after filing a motion to change the method of payment on a support order, the Court scheduled a first appearance four weeks out. In contrast, another lawyer reported that for a new support petition she filed on July 2nd, she was given a first appearance date of October 4th. Accordingly, her client was without even a temporary order of support for three months. Practitioners also reported extended delays between court appearances. One lawyer explained that pre-COVID she would routinely have adjournments of about two months and now that is closer to four months. Indeed, many cases were getting court dates in 2022. In one example, a litigant who filed a family offense petition on August 25th received a temporary order of protection with a return date of June 13, 2022. It is our understanding that there remained a number of cases submitted through EDDS, email or mail that had not been calendared. Every practitioner we spoke with has told us that, overall, delays in Family Court are significantly longer now than they were pre-COVID.

<u>November – December 2021</u>: It is our understanding that all cases submitted through EDDS, email, or mail throughout the pandemic have been calendared. Practitioners, however, continued to report wide variation in how quickly cases were being scheduled, longer than usual adjournments between court appearances, and little or no improvement in overall delays in Family Court. That being said, there were improvements in the number of cases being adjudicated. For example, according to Chief Judge Janet M. DiFiore in her December 13th video address, "while the number of adoptions has not quite returned to pre- COVID levels, we are on pace to finalize 33% more adoptions in 2021 than in 2020."

V. CLASSIFICATION OF EMERGENCY MATTERS

Although the Court accepted emergency applications in nonessential matters by Order to Show Cause, it never defined what constituted an "emergency." In the initial stages of the pandemic, Orders to Show Cause to obtain permission to file went to Supervising Judges who approved very few applications, perhaps because of the limited resources available to them. Subsequently, proposed Orders to Show Cause were distributed to individual judges who we

understand felt constrained to strictly or narrowly consider them. Judges informed us that they were frustrated with their inability to appropriately address the emergency situations affecting children and families.

From numerous interviews, it is clear that practitioners had difficulty distinguishing between emergencies and nonemergencies and that the standard often varied from judge to judge. In general, practitioners understood that abuse, neglect or other cases where the child was in danger constituted emergencies. Likewise, attorneys understood that, as a general rule, support cases were not considered to be emergencies. However, confusion arose in the multitude of different circumstances where a family was in crisis, but the child might not be in immediate physical danger.

This confusion was initially compounded by the Family Court's decision to only hear emergencies in pending cases. One practitioner told us they tried to get before a judge on behalf of a client whose spouse had taken their child out of state, but the Court rejected the application several times because there was no pending case. Then, when the Court did begin accepting orders to show cause for both new and existing emergency applications on nonessential cases, it did so without clearly communicating this change to litigants.

Practitioners used what they called "creative lawyering" to have their cases heard as "emergencies," while equally or arguably even more compelling litigants were shut out. However, even where the Court calendared a case as an emergency proceeding, some attorneys noted that there was no mechanism for filing related nonemergency claims in the same case. While the Court was more likely to calendar orders to show cause where a litigant was represented by counsel, many such cases were not heard because they were not deemed to be a sufficient emergency.

In one example, a practitioner represented an adult brother of a child whose mother had died of COVID-19. The attorney sought to assist the adult brother in applying for custody of the child so that he could make medical and educational decisions. While the Court was generally treating custody cases as nonemergencies, the attorney emphasized the importance of the case in the context of COVID-19. The Court initially rejected the case as a nonemergency, but the attorney pursued the case until, after multiple attempts, it was finally heard. For most litigants who are not represented by counsel, this outcome in all likelihood would have been different.

Although the Family Court attempted to create a delineation between emergency and nonemergency cases, practitioners repeatedly noted that many so-called "nonemergency" matters were in fact emergencies, both in terms of the health and safety of the litigants, and the urgent time frames the cases presented. As the months went on, this extended delay in the ability to seek and obtain judicial relief wreaked havoc on thousands of families and irreparably damaged their legal cases. The consequences of this delay are discussed in detail below.

While the pandemic brought nonemergency cases to a virtual standstill in Family Court, the New York State Supreme Court continued to hear both new and ongoing cases, whether or not they were deemed to be an "emergency." Thus, while nonemergency visitation, custody, and support cases were all stayed in Family Court for months on end, those same kinds of legal

issues continued to be adjudicated in the Supreme Court in connection with divorce cases, highlighting, again, the two systems of justice described by Secretary Johnson in his report.

This difference is largely a function of the fact that, unlike in Family Court, the Supreme Court's transition to remote proceedings was relatively smooth. It is well recognized that litigants who have access to the Supreme Court, where there is a filing fee, are more often represented by counsel and typically more affluent than their Family Court counterparts. Family Court serves many more unrepresented litigants, people of color and those living in poverty. There may not be a better example of systemic injustice, and yet despite this glaring disparity, in June 2021, the New York State Legislature approved additional judges to sit throughout the state in the Supreme Court. There was no such legislative solution or bailout of any kind directed to the New York City Family Court despite the crisis described in this report affecting some of the most vulnerable children and families in the State.

VI. COMMUNICATIONS

The Family Court's decision not to hear "nonemergency" matters affected a vast number of cases. This, in turn, prompted countless questions from unrepresented litigants, as well as from lawyers and advocates, about when and to what extent the Court would reopen, what would happen to previously filed cases and when new dates for those cases would be provided, what to do in an emergency, whether custody orders had to be complied with even if children were being relocated for health and safety reasons related to the pandemic and what to do if they are not, whether petitions (previously only filed in person) could still be filed while Family Court was physically closed, how to notify the Court of a change of address or phone number, and more. These questions were made even more urgent by the continuously changing nature of court operations over the course of the pandemic.

In the face of this significant disruption of services, the Court struggled to find a coherent communications strategy and never developed a system to effectively disseminate updates and guidance to the public on court operations and procedures. Litigants could not rely on the website or any other accessible source to receive clear, detailed, accurate, and up-to-date information, which was especially challenging for those who were unrepresented.

(a) At the Courthouse

At the time the pandemic began in March 2020, with limited exceptions, litigants could only file Family Court petitions by mail or in person at the courthouse, often relying on the help of court clerks. Therefore, from approximately March 16, 2020, to May 8, 2020, when the courthouse was physically closed and was not yet accepting any filings on nonessential/nonemergency matters, litigants could neither file nor even submit petitions. Even when the Court began accepting petitions via email and then EDDS, these changes in court procedures were not effectively communicated in real time to litigants or the general public. Nor

²³Prior to COVID, family offense petitions could be filed electronically from outside the courthouse.

was it communicated how to determine in advance when particular cases would be calendared and heard.

As a result, thousands of litigants showed up at the courthouse, as they would prepandemic, only to be turned away. Signs on the courthouse doors stated that the Court was closed with little additional information. Compounding the problem, in the beginning of the pandemic, these signs were only in English, and even when the signs were modified to provide for greater accessibility, they were only posted in English and Spanish.

Further, as a Court that had previously relied exclusively on paper filings and in-person hearings, the Family Court often did not collect or update litigants' contact information. Consequently, many litigants whose cases were administratively adjourned could not be reached by the Court and were left with no information about their cases.

(b) The Website

In addition to the lack of meaningful guidance at the courthouses, the Family Court sections of the Unified Court System website (including the version shown on mobile devices) provide limited and often unclear, outdated or inaccurate information on the status of the Court's operations even as of the release of this report. Of concern, the website is only available in English and, to a more limited degree, Spanish. By not offering a variety of languages, the website automatically excludes many individuals from acquiring any information.²⁴

Also of concern, the website's home page does not contain any landing page for updates related specifically to the impact of the pandemic on the Court's operations. The only section dedicated to pandemic-related updates is the "Coronavirus and New York City Family Court" portion, which is a single hyperlink in a long list of links. The section provides only basic information, and at no point throughout the pandemic did it provide meaningful updates with detailed guidance for litigants or the general public on the latest changes in court operations and procedures.

Not only does the website contain very limited information, but it also includes information that is conflicting or inaccurate. For instance, as of the date of this report, the website still states that the Court is "not yet open for the initiation of new cases involving . . . nonemergency matters." In fact, the Court has been accepting new submissions relating to nonemergency matters via EDDS and by email for months. To make matters even more confusing, in the section titled, "Information for Filing Emergency/Essential Applications," there is no guidance on what constitutes an emergency.

The website does direct litigants to submit permitted filings via EDDS, but the system is hard to navigate even with the Court's <u>user guide</u>, ²⁵ especially for unrepresented litigants. For

18

_

²⁴In its own Strategic Plan for Language Access, OCA identified the most frequently requested languages for translating, which includes Spanish, Mandarin, Russian, Haitian Creole and Arabic. http://ww2.nycourts.gov/sites/default/files/document/files/2018-06/language-access-report2017.pdf

²⁵https://iappscontent.courts.state.ny.us/NYSCEF/live/edds.htm.

example, EDDS will only accept a certain file type (PDF/A), even though the Court forms are only made available in PDF (non-form fillable) and Microsoft Word. For many unrepresented litigants who are unfamiliar with computers, this requirement poses a real and potentially insurmountable challenge.

Certain forms are provided on the website, but most are only in English and are not accompanied by any instructional guides to help litigants determine how to appropriately complete them or even which forms to complete. With respect to an affidavit of service, which is a critical document, one must know where to look on the website. Indeed, the web page titled "Filing an Affidavit of Service" indicates that the document can be found by clicking on the hyperlink labeled "Forms," which redirects the user to a category of forms. However, "Affidavit of Service" is not mentioned anywhere on that page.

The website contains some "do-it-yourself forms," which provide more specific guidance for litigants about the drafting process, but they are quite limited in scope. ²⁶ For example, the custody and modification forms are only designed for parents. A grandparent or sibling could not use the forms to modify their visitation schedules or custody arrangements. Likewise, when users find out that the forms they are trying to use are not right for them, the only direction they receive is to call their local Family Court. Moreover, there are only five such forms available: Paternity, Custody Modification, Custody Enforcement, Child Support Modification, and Child Support Enforcement. There are, however, a multitude of other forms needed by litigants, especially during COVID-19 when no cases in those areas were being heard without an Order to Show Cause and Affidavit in Support. The closest information we could find anywhere on the Court website with guidance on Orders to Show Cause is on a link²⁷ that provides information for pro se litigants titled, "How to Ask the Court for Something (motions and orders to show cause)." There is no form for an affidavit in support, however, which must accompany an Order to Show Cause, the information provided is general and not specific to the Family Court, and the web page is hard to find.

(c) Administrative Orders

Some information, including guidance on what broad categories of cases constitute an emergency, and what phase of operations the Family Court is in at any given time, was shared through the Court's various administrative orders. These orders, however, are difficult to locate; indeed, there is no link on the Family Court website that easily allows a litigant or the general public to access them. Furthermore, the orders themselves do not contain all updates to Family Court operations and provide only limited guidance. The incomplete and inaccessible nature of

²⁶The lack of a uniform format is problematic: some forms on the website are available in Word, some in fillable pdf, and still others in non-fillable pdf, which have to be printed out and filled in by hand. Because these are universal forms, they often contain language that does not apply in every case, so the absence of clear instructions in many of the forms leaves unrepresented litigants confused and potentially disadvantaged.

²⁷https://iappscontent.courts.state.ny.us/NYSCEF/live/edds.htm.

the orders has thus contributed to confusion concerning the status at any given time of the Family Court operations in New York City.

(d) Reliance on Lawyers to "Spread the Word"

Lawyers working in the Family Court, especially those from institutional providers of legal services to families and children, and members of the assigned counsel panel have fared better with respect to learning about the current status of Family Court operations. These advocates, by and large, have received information throughout the pandemic directly from the Family Court. For instance, the Supervising Judges in each of the boroughs held periodic meetings with agency leaders to provide updates on Family Court operations. These meetings, among other things, enabled stakeholders to comment on the definition of essential matters and advocate for the ability to file Orders to Show Cause to address additional matters. Other important issues were discussed during these meetings as well. In the area of juvenile justice, for example, practitioners were able to explain the importance of an order appointing attorneys for the child prior to the initial appearance based on the large number of non-custody cases that could not be filed. Issues regarding conflicting information or positions among jurists were also raised during these meetings.²⁸

However, only a select group of institutional and nonprofit providers were invited to participate in these meetings. Additionally, participants reported that these meetings were most helpful for understanding what the Court could not do but were less effective in communicating updates from the Court or clarifying how to overcome challenges presented by the pandemic. Announcements from the Court at these meetings were not always consistent with what participants were seeing on the ground. In addition, the Court communicated some information via one-off emails to listservs, but it did not send these updates with any regularity and often provided little clarity beyond what the Court's brief and irregular administrative orders stated.

The Family Court did not disseminate information to the general public and to advocates at the same time or with the same level of detail. Advocates reported that the Court delegated its responsibility to communicate with the public to the advocates, asking them to communicate updates to their clients instead of widely disseminating information to the public at large. Represented litigants whose lawyers were able to find out more information were thus more likely to obtain favorable outcomes—e.g., access to the courts during the pandemic—than unrepresented litigants with no direct access to information. Unequal outcomes may exist even among represented litigants, with some organizations receiving fuller or more complete information than others depending on what meetings with the Court they attended.

appointed Administrative Judge Anne-Marie Jolly.

20

²⁸By way of a more recent example, during the past few months' return to in-person juvenile delinquency intake across the boroughs, attorneys for the child, probation officers, and ACS were initially denied a request for technology in the detention rooms that would enable all members of their staff and the youth to maintain safety precautions. Although the request was initially denied, the decision was later reversed following a stakeholder meeting with newly

The communication mentioned here developed on a rather ad hoc basis and as time progressed. There was not, and is not now, a formalized emergency plan of communication that anticipates future crises which are unfortunately certain to occur.²⁹

As a result, many of the sources of information advocates relied on originated outside of the Court. For instance, advocates from various nonprofit organizations and institutional provider organizations set up email chains to share updates with each other. Advocates would communicate with colleagues in other organizations to determine what successes and roadblocks they had experienced with their cases, hopeful that the information would help other advocates achieve successful outcomes for their clients.

VII. CHALLENGES WITH REMOTE OPERATION

Not only did the Family Court struggle to communicate with the public about the current state of Family Court operations, it also struggled to manage the transition to remote operations altogether. Inadequate staffing, challenges with Court staff working remotely, the Family Court's outdated pre-pandemic filing system, the Court's unwillingness to authorize widespread access to its Universal Case Management System ("UCMS") and challenges with remote proceedings all contributed to a slow and confusing transition to remote operations.

(a) Staffing

With the Courthouse physically shut down at the beginning of the pandemic, the Family Court sought to shift to virtual proceedings with its judges and staff working remotely. The transition was difficult as judges, court clerks, and other staff were not initially equipped with the necessary technology or training to work at home effectively. The problem was magnified because the Court, which had already been acutely understaffed before the pandemic, was subject to a crippling hiring freeze imposed across the entire court system.

The lack of adequate court staff and the rocky transition to remote work made it difficult for the Court to hear cases and provide various services to the public, including assistance and guidance for unrepresented litigants. The Family Court website informed litigants that they could call the Court to obtain information, yet because of the shortage of clerks and the lack of proper technology, the public was often unsuccessful in getting through to the Court for help. Additionally, because of understaffing and the attendant need for personnel to assume roles for which they were not adequately trained, the advice provided by the office was at times inconsistent. As a result, litigants and practitioners alike were sometimes required to file the same or similar motions and petitions repeatedly before they were accepted. Litigants also had difficulty obtaining documents previously filed in their cases.

_

²⁹Additionally, there appeared to be virtually no routine, formal communication among the Supreme, Family and Criminal Courts regarding Raise the Age operations and youth. To that end, juvenile justice parties and stakeholders were present at Criminal Court in downtown Manhattan on the night that Hurricane Henri devastated New York City. Despite attempts to communicate with the Criminal Court and to utilize virtual appearances, all were expected to travel to the court.

Early on in the establishment and implementation of remote Family Court, usage of the new technology—first Skype for Business and then Microsoft Teams—was inadequate because, initially, virtual court time had to be rationed and shared by various judges. Even when there were enough courtrooms, only some had the capability to connect with the standard digital recording system ("FTR"). Another issue arose in those cases that required court reporters. Few reporters were available, and their services were therefore rationed. It was also difficult to secure interpreters. These factors made scheduling court time difficult.

(b) Family Court Staff Were Generally Unable to Work From Home

Compounding the lack of adequate staffing was the notable fact that many Family Court clerks and staff were unable to work remotely because they lacked the hardware and/or technology to do so. As a result, going remote while already facing a significant caseload³⁰ put even more burden on the jurists who were left without sufficient or, in some cases, any support staff. Moreover, we understand that court staff were not required to use their personal phones for work, making the situation more difficult for jurists to access assistance remotely to handle the Family Court's significant caseload crisis.

(c) <u>Technology</u>

Today, more than 85 percent of Americans have access to the internet.³¹ And, while significantly fewer low-income individuals have sufficient internet access than those better off economically, that digital divide has been narrowing. The widespread availability and use of the internet has presented the Family Court with an opportunity to examine past, present, and future practices.³² Unfortunately, at the time COVID-19 struck, the Family Court had, by and large, allowed this opportunity to pass.³³ The cessation of in-person proceedings and closing of the Family Courthouses for a large number of litigants during COVID only magnifies the need to confront the technology issues head on and develop workable solutions and innovations.

(d) Filings

³⁰See New York State Unified Court System 2020 Annual Report, https://www.nycourts.gov/legacypdfs/20-UCS-Annual-Report.pdf.

³¹See generally Internet/Broadband Factsheet, Pew Center for Research (Apr. 7, 2021), available at https://www.pewresearch.org/internet/fact-sheet/internet-broadband/.

³²See generally Digital Divide Most Glaring in Low-Income Communities, Government Technology (Sept. 7, 2017), available at https://www.govtech.com/computing/where-the-digital-divide-is-the-worst.html.

³³Some of this lost opportunity was due to concerns about the need to preserve confidentiality in Family Court proceedings and that a voluntary e-filing system (the only form permitted under current law) would be unworkable. We believe that privacy concerns can be addressed through safeguards in the technology, as they have been in the Supreme Court, and that an e-filing system for those willing to take advantage of it would be a great improvement over current practices.

In contrast to many other courts in New York State, the Family Court had no electronic filing system before the pandemic, and it still has yet to adopt one. The New York State Courts Electronic Filing System (NYSCEF) is the electronic court filing system used in the New York State Unified Court System. Since the introduction in 1999 of electronic filing in the Commercial Division of the Supreme Court in two counties, electronic filing has gradually expanded to most counties in the state and to additional courts. Specifically, electronic filing through NYSCEF is currently authorized in 60 Supreme Courts, 54 Surrogate's Courts, the Court of Claims, and the Appellate Division, and it has also expanded to the high-volume New York City Housing Court.³⁴ NYSCEF is also administered in matrimonial cases, in which the public is presumptively precluded from accessing legal documents.

Although legislation would be required to make electronic filing mandatory in Family Court, current law authorizes the Chief Administrative judge to introduce electronic filing for those litigants willing to take advantage of it (FCA §214). Among the many benefits of electronic filing is the digital storage of electronic documents that provides litigants, their attorneys, and courts with the significant benefit of instant access to court papers anytime. After the closing of the physical Family Court to the public in March 2020, the method of in-person filing of pleadings was rendered obsolete, but no adequate substitute was ready to be instituted. As of the date of this report, in-person filings are permitted but there is limited capacity in the waiting areas.

The Family Court first adopted a rudimentary system through which filings could be submitted to the Court, but not filed, through a simple email address—

NYSCAPPLICATIONS@NYCCOURTS.GOV. Beginning May 4, 2020, OCA initiated a new program to transmit digitized documents to the Family Court via EDDS. EDDS allows users to (1) enter basic information about a matter on a Uniform Court System website portal page, (2) upload one or more PDF documents, and (3) send those documents electronically to a court or clerk selected by the user. Upon receipt of the document(s) by the court, the sender receives an email notification with a unique code that identifies the delivery. However, no further action is taken through EDDS, including issuance of a docket number or a summons. And neither litigants nor attorneys can access any documents through EDDS. This platform is, therefore, a submission portal and not a filing system like NYSCEF.

The Work Group was advised by stakeholders that Family Court was slow to roll out information about how to use EDDS, particularly for pro se litigants. The Family Court website now contains a link on the main page on how to use EDDS along with a user manual, but, as explained above, current guidance is insufficient for unrepresented litigants.

(e) UCMS Access

Further compounding the impact of not having an electronic filing system is that the Family Court has not yet provided litigants and lawyers with UCMS access to the Court files in their own cases. Presently and prior to the pandemic, all records in a case file were received

³⁴See New York State Unified Court System 2020 Annual Report, https://www.nycourts.gov/legacypdfs/20-UCS-Annual-Report.pdf (last visited on June 8, 2021).

digitally and saved in the Family Court's UCMS by court staff. Judges, Support Magistrates, Court Attorney-Referees and Judicial Hearing Officers review all court records online and enter their case progress notes into UCMS. Petitions and orders are signed electronically by jurists, enabling the presentment agencies and those attorneys with access to UCMS to immediately view and print all signed orders and documents.

All attorneys interviewed for this report, regardless of whom they represented or which types of proceedings they handled, were consistent in their criticism of the fact that many lawyers, including those working for institutional providers, are unable to access court documents through UCMS. Access is therefore completely uneven: some institutional providers have full access, while others have no access or access only to certain types of cases (e.g., custody, visitation, and neglect but not family offense petitions). Further, even within individual institutional providers and the assigned counsel panel, some have access and some do not. Private attorneys have no access to UCMS.

It is a problem of utmost urgency that lawyers are not able to access court files electronically, particularly during a pandemic when most lawyers have been working remotely. One attorney described the lack of access as "practicing law with a blindfold on." It is our belief that no attorney can advise clients adequately without having timely access to copies of all pleadings and orders.

Further, UCMS does not have a docket sheet such as that provided in the NYSCEF system. Therefore, to the extent attorneys have UCMS access, they have to access documents piecemeal and pull documents individually without reference to the full electronic file. This is a material impediment to adequate representation. At some point during the pandemic, the Family Court created an email system where attorneys could request documents. For some, there has been delay in accessing documents in that way, but in any event, this antiquated system unacceptably impedes access to the court system in a way that disproportionately impacts the poor and low-income parties in Family Court who are less likely to have counsel who can request documents for them.

These impediments made the work of lawyers during the pandemic much more burdensome. For example, in an ad hoc effort to deal with the limited applications that would be accepted during the pandemic, a project was initiated in late March 2020 to provide representation to domestic violence victims seeking orders of protection, in which Safe Horizon coordinated with the court-appointed attorney panel (referred to as the "18-b" panel) in New York City. However, many 18-b lawyers were unable to access court files through UCMS. The lack of UCMS access required the already overburdened 18-b lawyers with UCMS access to spend even more time coordinating the staffing of these cases for those 18-b lawyers without UCMS access. The bulk of the orders of protection in Family Court during COVID-19 were filed by various legal services organizations. These organizations also reported difficulty in making these filings without access to Court clerks or UCMS. They often found it challenging to track cases and provide clients with their documents after hearings.³⁵

³⁵There is no question, however, that litigants benefited greatly from having counsel early in the process, which gave them access to safety planning and legal advice that strengthened their

Family Court should act expediently to provide all lawyers who work in the Family Court with UCMS access, particularly given that the Court does not have an electronic filing system. To the extent that the Family Court has concerns about abuse of the system and safeguarding the privacy of records, those concerns are relevant to every electronic filing system, including matrimonial cases through NYSCEF, and there are straightforward technological solutions to manage those concerns.

(f) **Procedures in Remote Proceedings**

The Family Court has not yet issued uniform rules governing remote proceedings. ³⁶ In December 2020, several advocate organizations and ACS, with input from the Safety, Family Engagement & Court Practice Committee and the Family Court's all borough Child Protective Advisory Committee, presented a detailed virtual hearing protocol to Administrative Judge Jeanette Ruiz for the Court's consideration. We understand that, as of the date of this report, the Court has not substantively responded to the draft protocol nor developed its own protocol.

Feedback from the Court has been that while it might at some future date consider best practice guidelines for remote proceedings, a virtual hearing protocol would infringe on judicial independence. We respectfully disagree. Indeed, uniform procedural rules would instill confidence in the system, increase the likelihood that all litigants are treated fairly and respectfully, and ensure that litigants and their attorneys know what to expect and are better prepared for Court.

Senior Court administrators have advised us that they will embrace remote proceedings going forward. This decision, which we support, highlights the importance of establishing uniform rules for remote proceedings.

In addition, we believe remote proceedings should allow the Family Court to move quickly and efficiently away from the dehumanizing "cattle calls" that traditionally have plagued the Family Court.³⁷ And, in this regard, it bears emphasis that other courts have been able to conduct remote proceedings effectively, including those in matrimonial cases, which raise many

petitions. This is particularly true given that in family offense petitions pro se litigants are expected to plead specific elements of a crime.

http://www.nycourts.gov/whatsnew/pdf/SpecialAdviserEqualJusticeReport.pdf.

³⁶The Family Court issued a general one-page document that provided little practical guidance for pro se litigants and attorneys. See https://www.nycourts.gov/LegacyPDFS/COURTS/nyc/family/Guide-to-Virtual-Appearances.pdf.

³⁷Report from the Special Adviser on Equal Justice in the New York State Courts (Oct. 1, 2020) at p. 3 ("Over and over, we heard about the 'dehumanizing' and 'demeaning cattle-call culture' in" the Family Court. "At the same time, the overwhelming majority of the civil or criminal litigants in the Housing, Family, Civil and Criminal courts in New York City are people of color. The sad picture that emerges is, in effect, a second-class system of justice for people of color in New York State. This is not new."), available at

of the same issues relating to privacy and confidentiality as do Family Court cases. The same result should be achievable in the Family Court.

Finally, we believe that a flexible approach in administering remote proceedings is critically important. For example, one litigant informed us that he spent months seeking to get his child support termination case heard by phone because he had no way to access a video proceeding. This seems like a sensible way to process cases for litigants who may not have video access and particularly where, as in this case, the issues in the court proceeding were uncontroverted and straightforward. Accordingly, the Family Court uniformly should conduct proceedings by phone where appropriate.³⁸ Indeed, the Court informed us that most unrepresented litigants now appear by telephone and are able to introduce evidence by email. The Microsoft Teams link that is currently sent to litigants includes a phone number to dial into proceedings.

VIII. PRO SE CHALLENGES

Under the best of circumstances, pro se parties in Family Court need significant help navigating the complex and intimidating maze of rules, regulations, statutes and case law governing access to the Family Court and disposition of each proceeding. When the pandemic hit New York City, these litigants suffered disproportionately when it came to their Family Court cases.

Pre-COVID, the Help Center, or pro se petition room, was the Family Court's lifeblood for unrepresented litigants. The Help Center seeks to provide individuals with the highest quality service in order to fulfill the public's right to fair and efficient justice. Although Court staff do not provide legal advice, they historically have provided various types of assistance to court users, including help filing petitions, motions, and other court documents. After the physical closure of the Family Court beginning in March 2020, unrepresented litigants were prevented from accessing the Help Center. That was a devastating blow to a large number of unrepresented litigants who have little or no legal sophistication and have difficulty filing papers without assistance. Throughout the pandemic the Family Court assigned staff to answer phones and emails from litigants about their cases, but we were universally told of the difficulty many unrepresented litigants had in getting through to the Court. As of the date of this report, the Family Court has resumed Help Center operations but only at reduced capacity.

As mentioned above in the context of orders of protection, the Family Court has relied heavily on already overburdened nonprofit organizations and 18-b panel members in each borough to provide assistance to unrepresented litigants. As heroic as these organizations have been during the pandemic, the absence of the Help Center as it existed pre-COVID continues to negatively impact unrepresented litigants.

On the positive side, OCA has facilitated the creation of Public Access Terminal Court Hubs housed in Family Justice Centers, which offer remote access to Family Court and were

³⁸Telephonic appearances in child support cases were not unusual pre-COVID. The difference is that typically only one party appeared by phone (because, for example, they lived in another state) while the others, including their attorneys, appeared in person.

often staffed by Safe Horizon employees. Unrepresented litigants can seek to file petitions for orders of protection and obtain general information about Family Court cases during the limited windows when these hubs are open—most often for not more than two days per week and a few hours each day.³⁹ According to the Court, work is in progress to establish additional hubs in other locations. In addition, in each county, isolated space containing a court computer and staffed by a court clerk has been set aside to permit litigants who do not possess the requisite technology to attend their court appearances.

As discussed above, one of the greatest challenges pro se litigants experienced during the pandemic was the inability to get information about their cases. When finally calendaring cases after the long delays described above, the Family Court reached out by mail and often did not have current email or phone information, thus making it difficult or impossible for pro se litigants to receive notice of their scheduled virtual court proceedings. For the same reasons, the Court was often unable to reach litigants who failed to appear for scheduled hearings. For those pro se litigants who were able to submit nonemergency cases through EDDS, there have been delays of up to one year between the time a petition was submitted on EDDS and when the Family Court deemed that petition to be filed and a summons issued. During that time, litigants received no information about the status of their submissions and had no access to the court system.

Even when a litigant was finally able to get a hearing, there was no meaningful way for that individual to obtain technical support to log into the remote courtroom or to receive assistance in uploading documents for the hearing. As a result of these technical difficulties and trouble getting through to the Court for assistance, practitioners report an increasing number of motions to recalendar cases. These issues have resulted in the denial of access to justice for innumerable pro se litigants in Family Court.

IX. HOW THE COURT IS DEALING WITH THE BACKLOG

We requested from OCA, but did not receive, detailed information on the backlog of filings in the New York City Family Court—including those cases that have been filed but not disposed of and those cases that have been submitted through EDDS but not yet filed. Therefore, we have not been able to quantify the actual number of backlogged cases. In June 2021, the Court explained in an email response to our inquiry that it was "difficult to quantify 'backlogged' cases." They continued, "the term 'backlogged' does not have a generally accepted definition. As you know, in Family Court normal proceedings in some cases can continue for

³⁹In July 2021, Legal Information for Families Today (LIFT) piloted a remote technology site in its downtown Brooklyn office where pro se litigants can come to participate in their virtual hearings and trials in Family Court, download Court documents and upload them to the Court electronic delivery system, and receive remote assistance from LIFT's staff.

⁴⁰For child support cases in particular, the date of filing is substantively important, as any support ordered or modified is retroactive to the date of filing.

several months. What we can offer in response to this question is the number of unfiled cases—11,120—plus the approximately 10,000 anticipated new child support filings."

At the time of this report, practitioners consistently report that delays in Family Court are considerably longer now than they were pre-COVID, which may be the best indication that the backlog of cases continues to present a real problem for litigants. Our interviews have indicated that the backlog includes cases that were filed pre-March 2020 that have been delayed, cases filed during the pandemic that are moving at different speeds, and a large number of "dangler" cases—those cases that have been submitted through EDDS or by mail but have not yet been deemed filed. Indeed, it has been a source of confusion among litigants that a submission could be something separate from a filing. Some practitioners informed us of documents getting lost or not being properly filed. As of the date of this report, it appears that the remaining dangler cases have been calendared.⁴¹

To address this backlog, in or about January 2021, OCA recruited approximately 100 volunteer Supreme Court Justices, many of whom are from matrimonial or criminal parts, to hear custody and visitation cases in all five boroughs in matters where there is no prior history between the parties. The Supreme Court justice is provided a Family Court link and is reliant entirely on Family Court resources and personnel. These justices went through a training program that included the administrative process, signing vouchers and other matters.

So far, the Supreme Court Justices have primarily been conferencing cases. Judge Ruiz reported to us that approximately 600 cases had been referred to Supreme Court justices in April and May 2021 and that the disposition rate was greater than 50%, with many cases resolved by referrals to court-based alternative dispute resolution programs. Judge Ruiz was optimistic that the Supreme Court project would expand and that more cases would be referred under the project. As of the date of this report, to our knowledge, this project has not expanded.

We appreciate that these case referrals have been made; however, to date, these judges have disposed of a relatively small number of cases, mostly through the settlement of cases already ripe for settlement and dismissal for failure to appear. Moreover, it is our understanding that the Supreme Court justices are only handling Family Court matters one day per week and are using Family Court clerks and other resources (as opposed to using Supreme Court resources), thereby taxing the already under-resourced Family Court. In short, although a good step, this small initiative has not adequately addressed the current backlog of cases.

Compounding the shortage of resources appears to be the resistance among some Supreme Court justices to be associated with the Family Court because of a perceived lack of

28

⁴¹According to practitioners, a factor contributing to the current delay in Family Court proceedings is the lack of a sufficient number of 18-b lawyers as a result of resignations during the pandemic. In the absence of available appointed counsel, a growing number of cases have had to be adjourned. The resignations should not come as a surprise given the added burdens of the pandemic combined with the fact that 18-b lawyers have not received a pay increase in 17 years.

prestige.⁴² This reflects deeper issues regarding the perception, even among jurists, of the Family Court as a less important component of the state's system of justice. The same is reflected in the legislature's recent measure to add Supreme Court seats in 11 judicial districts, but not a single New York City Family Court judgeship. This resulted in a statement from the court system's spokesperson acknowledging that "additional Family Court Judges would have been more helpful as Family Court is facing greater challenges than any other court and could use the resources." ⁴³

Finally, we must note that on January 7, 2022, just days before this report was issued, OCA took steps which could significantly exacerbate the central concerns we address here. It announced the transfer of six Civil Court Judges, who had been assigned to Family Court, out of Family Court, to be replaced by one, or perhaps, two judges. It has not, however, yet determined how the transferred judges' caseloads will be absorbed. Four of those Civil Court Judges had been sitting in Bronx Family Court, where it is our understanding they were the only jurists assigned to hear custody, visitation and family offense matters; the other two had been sitting in Brooklyn, where they too had been hearing such cases. 44 It is our understanding that as a result, nearly 4,500 cases will have to be transferred to other sitting jurists who, as we have detailed, preside over dockets that are already overwhelming.

No rationale for these transfers has been shared with the public.⁴⁵ We are particularly troubled that this action is being undertaken notwithstanding OCA's previous acknowledgment of the need to ameliorate the impact of such transfers, which were thoroughly highlighted in our prior report.⁴⁶

⁴² Tarinelli, Ryan, "Power Struggle Continues Over Return of Older NY Judges as System Announces Assignment Plan." *New York Law Journal*, May 21, 2021, https://www.law.com/newyorklawjournal/2021/05/21/power-struggle-continues-over-return-of-older-ny-judges-as-system-announces-assignment-plan/.

⁴³Tarinelli, Ryan, "State Lawmakers Vote to Add More Judicial Seats as Session Ends." *New York Law Journal*, June 21, 2021, https://www.law.com/newyorklawjournal/2021/06/11/state-lawmakers-add-more-judicial-seats-as-sessionends/?kw=State%20Lawmakers%20Add%20More%20Judicial%20Seats%20as%20Session%20Ends.

⁴⁴Memorandum from Family Court Administrative Judge Anne-Marie Jolly, dated January 7, 2022. We understand that one newly elected Civil Court Judge will be assigned to New York County Family Court and that a newly appointed Family Court Judge may be assigned to Family Courts.

⁴⁵We have requested additional information from the Court concerning these transfers but did not receive anything in time to include here.

⁴⁶The Family Court Judicial Appointment and Assignment Process (December 15, 2020), available at https://www.nycbar.org/member-and-career-services/committees/reports-listing/reports/detail/the-family-court-judicial-appointment-and-assignment-process.

The work group is profoundly concerned with the significant disruption and delay these transfers will likely cause for the poor and low-income families of color who are before the Family Court, who are already the most profoundly and detrimentally impacted by the pandemic, and whose cases have already been subject to long delays.

X. CONSEQUENCES IN PARTICULAR CASES

As described earlier in this report, the tremendous backlog of cases in the Family Court is made up primarily of custody, visitation, guardianship, adoption, and child support cases. The Family Court also continues to suffer from a severe shortage of court personnel. Scores of would-be litigants have been cut off from the Family Court without access to a court-appointed lawyer. Moreover, the Family Court Help Center is now operating at only limited capacity, further hobbling pro se litigants' ability to proceed on their own.

<u>Child Support</u>: During a meeting with several Family Court judges early in the pandemic, one agency was told child support would never be considered an emergency. Later, practitioners reported that in response to zealous and creative advocacy, the Court heard a small handful of child support cases that were deemed to be "emergency" cases. However, the vast majority of child support cases filed before and during the pandemic were stayed for an extended period of time.

Some lawyers invoked the provision in Article 8 that provides for an award of child support in connection with an order of protection only to find that many jurists were reluctant to make such awards.

Without child or spousal support for months on end, many families have experienced greater food and housing insecurity and dependence on public assistance. Practitioners also reported that some victims of domestic violence felt compelled to remain in abusive or unsafe homes due to the lack of child support for their families. Financial support is a critical factor in enabling victims to leave their abusers: A victim is more likely to stay with or return to an abuser if they are unable to meet their and their children's basic needs. Indeed, financial dependence is one of the most powerful methods of keeping a victim of intimate partner violence trapped in an abusive relationship, and it deeply diminishes the victim's ability to stay safe after leaving an abusive partner. Moreover, limiting access to the Family Court increases the chance that a child will reside in an abusive home, which can have devastating long-term effects. In short, for many litigants, support denied over an extended period of time is anything but nonessential.⁴⁷

<u>Child Custody</u>: For families litigating child custody matters, the months of inaction have prevented parents from seeing children for extended periods of time. This separation is excruciating for parents and children alike. Determining custody and visitation is not a

_

⁴⁷According to a recent report published by Her Justice, which examines New York City Child support proceedings in detail and provides a host of original data, "the child support system plays a critical role in determining economic justice for single mothers and children living in poverty." https://herjustice.org/childsupportpolicyreport/.

dispassionate legal matter for families seeking help from the Family Court—it is often their last recourse when they are being denied access to their children or believe their children are being mistreated by the other caregiver. In addition to the personal burden, lost time with children may affect the Court's ultimate decision in a given case, which is likely to be influenced to some degree by the status quo. Moreover, lack of access to the Court during the pandemic put some litigants in the impossible position of having to choose between following a prior court order or making a sound public health decision.

Thus, characterizing virtually all custody and visitation proceedings as nonemergency matters, causing them to be sidelined for so long, continues to take a grave human toll.

Termination of Parental Rights and Adoptions: Another so-called nonemergency category involves adoption proceedings, which were stayed during the pandemic and have only begun to be calendared with any frequency since the spring of 2021. This standstill and resulting backlog have undermined the health and safety of children who are being deprived of a final, timely decision on their adoption. It is also important to note that pre-adoptive parents have no parental rights, so the lack of access to the Family Court gravely affected them as well.

One practitioner described a case that was scheduled for a dispositional hearing in a termination of parental rights proceeding in March of 2020 for a seven-year-old who had spent most of their life in foster care as a result of their mother's mental illness. The matter was delayed an entire year. Because of the failure of the Court to proceed, the child was subjected to numerous virtual visits in which their mother cursed at them, instructed them on what to say to their attorney and repeatedly hung up on them during phone conversations. In May 2021, two days after a virtual visit where the mother threatened the child, the child was psychiatrically hospitalized with suicidal ideation. In addition, despite struggling in school, the child's mother repeatedly refused to sign requests for a special education evaluation, subjecting the child to an entire year of "virtual school" in an inappropriate educational setting.

The overall effect of this extended lack of access goes beyond the thousands of individuals denied their day in court; it now threatens institutional damage to the Family Court itself. Without the ability to proceed in court, some have engaged in self-help or were on the other side of such an effort and now may be even more reluctant to follow the law or have their disputes decided by a judge as the doors finally reopen. Practitioners have told us that many people are losing respect for an institution that became unavailable to them during a time when its help was most needed.

XI. LACK OF ACCESS TO FAMILY COURT NEGATIVELY AFFECTS REAL LIVES

The effect of the Family Court's closure to a significant number of litigants involving many categories of proceedings has had a profoundly negative impact on New York City's families, as demonstrated by the client stories below:

1. Kings County, New York

A. O. is facing the potential termination of her parental rights to her seven-year-old daughter, Amora. The termination of parental rights proceeding in her case began prior to the

pandemic, with the agency's submission of case records making up its direct case. The continued trial was initially adjourned as the result of the pandemic and then proceeded virtually over Ms. O.'s objection. Ms. O.'s main witness is her grandmother, Maria G., who does not have reliable internet or a computer or tablet in her home. Ms. O's counsel arranged for Ms. G. to come to her office to participate in the proceeding. However, once Ms. G. arrived, they discovered that the Wi-Fi at counsel's office was not working, forcing Ms. O's attorney to participate in the trial via her phone. On a subsequent court date, Ms. G. arranged to return to counsel's office but had to cancel when another grandchild's school closed because of COVID. As a result, Ms. G. had to continue her testimony from her home on her personal phone, using her cellular connection. The judge frequently interrupted her testimony to admonish Ms. G. for her inability to hold the phone steady, her bad lighting, and the fact that the judge was having difficulty hearing her—none of which was within Ms. G.'s control. Counsel for Ms. O. attempted to make a record regarding the multiple technological issues that had occurred throughout the course of the proceeding; however, the judge became upset and attempted to prevent her from doing so.

2. Bronx County, New York

A.C. is the father of a two-and-a-half-year-old son. For the two years following the birth of his son, the child resided with A.C. and the mother had little involvement in his life. Things changed dramatically when A.C.'s mother refused to return the child to A.C. after a visit. Shortly thereafter, A.C. was arrested and a criminal order of protection was entered against him that prevented him from contacting his son, subject to modification by a subsequent order of visitation from the Family Court. A.C. was unable to access the Family Court to obtain a temporary visitation order because the Family Court did not recognize this as an emergency matter. He was not able to file a petition until eight months later, when he obtained pro bono counsel. With counsel, A.C. was able to obtain a shared custody order. A.C. established that the denial of visitation was detrimental to his son and restarted his relationship with him. Eight months in the life of a two-year-old constitutes many developmental milestones that the child experienced without his father.

3. Bronx County, New York

J.A. has three children, one of whom has significant special needs. She has spent at least seven years in Family Court seeking to enforce significant child support arrears. She submitted her most recent petition on October 27, 2020. The Family Court did not calendar the case until late July 2021, and the willfulness hearing was not concluded until September 23, 2021, just a little less than one year after submission. As a result, J.A. has fallen into debt, endured a housing eviction case, and has been unable to provide adequately for the basic needs of her children.

4. Kings County, New York

During her marriage, a client was strangled, head-butted, kicked, slapped, and pushed by her husband. Many incidents occurred while the client was pregnant. She is an immigrant and her husband threatened to call immigration to have her deported if she left him and to leave her on the street with their two young children and with no support. The client knew the Court was not accepting child support cases and feared that she would not be able to quickly get child

support during the pandemic. Thus, she stayed in an abusive, unsafe situation. She tried twice to separate from her husband during the pandemic, but he convinced her to reconcile, repeatedly telling her that she could not support the children without him. After finding counsel months later, she filed for an order of protection in Family Court. In addition to asking that the Court order the husband to stay away from her, the attorney also requested, and received, a temporary child support order based on the children's needs under Article 8. Because of her order of protection and the support award, the client felt both physically and financially safe to separate from her abuser.

5. Kings County, New York

On May 22, 2020, ACS filed a petition alleging that Mr. J. neglected his one-year-old son and his son's two half siblings. The petition alleged that Mr. J. knew or should have known of the mother's mental illness and did not arrange emergency treatment for her. The Kings County Family Court removed the children, placing one of them with her nonrespondent father and the other two, including Mr. J.'s son, in non-kinship foster care. On June 9, 2020, Mr. J. requested the return of his son to his care, or in the alternative, an immediate hearing pursuant to Family Court Act ("FCA") section 1028. All the parties except the children's mother submitted papers stipulating to certain facts. The attorney for the child supported his release to Mr. J. Over Mr. J.'s objection, the Court granted the children's mother an extension until June 26, 2020, to submit papers. Despite numerous requests by Mr. J.'s counsel that the Court schedule an immediate hearing, the Court took no action until July 8, 2020, at which time it issued a decision denying Mr. J.'s 1028 application for the return of the children without a hearing "in light of the Covid-19 response." Mr. J. appealed the order and filed an emergency motion seeking remittal to the Family Court for an immediate hearing. On July 17, 2020, the Appellate Division Second Department granted the motion and remanded the case for an immediate 1028 hearing. The Family Court began the hearing on July 23, then adjourned to August 3 because the judge was on vacation. On August 3, the Court heard one hour of testimony and then adjourned the hearing over Mr. J.'s objection to August 13. On August 6, 2020, Mr. J. filed a second emergency motion in the Second Department seeking to expedite the hearing. The Second Department issued an interim order directing the Family Court to continue the 1028 hearing expeditiously and without adjournment as required by the Family Court Act. The court continued the hearing on August 11, 12, and 13, and issued a decision on August 17 granting his application and releasing his son to his care—more than five weeks after Mr. J. requested his son's return pursuant to FCA section 1028.

6. New York County, New York

In January 2020, C.C. commenced a violation of support petition on behalf of her 14-year-old son who had been placed on administrative leave from his therapeutic boarding school due to his father's failure to pay his tuition pursuant to a court order. The Support Magistrate issued an undertaking for the next tuition payment that was due March 1, 2020. Respondent failed to pay but was granted an extension until April 1, 2020. The pandemic hit in March, and the courts were closed. The son's school closed March 17, 2020. As the date to reopen was rapidly approaching, the school increased their efforts to collect the tuition and the mother ramped up her efforts to get help from the Court. She was repeatedly told by her lawyers and the attorney for her daughter in a concurrent custody matter that the Court would only hear

emergency cases. The May 15th reopening of school date came and went, and her son was not allowed back to school. Having been removed from his educational and support network, his mental health deteriorated rapidly and his behavior grew more erratic and he became aggressive and socially withdrawn. C.C.'s attempts to file violation petitions and motions were met with silence. She did not hear from the Court regarding the support violation until October 2020, by which point it was too late to reenroll her son in his therapeutic boarding school.

7. New York County, New York

A.B., a father, submitted a petition through EDDS in August 2020 to terminate his support obligation because his son was living with him. He received no response. In January 2021, he brought an Order to Show Cause because his license was being threatened for failure to pay child support. A.B. received his first appearance by telephone on March 10th. EDDS was very difficult for him to navigate, and he did not find useful information on the Court's website. He had no idea what an Order to Show Cause was before speaking with a volunteer attorney, and up until that point, he had found the experience to be "horrible." He felt the Support Magistrate refused to let him speak and treated him "like a child." Even for such a simple request, it took almost a year to get relief and only after coming close to having his license suspended.

XII. RECOMMENDATIONS

The main takeaway from this report should be the urgent need to modernize the Family Court and bring it up to at least the level of the state's trial court of general jurisdiction, the Supreme Court. The lack of electronic filing was crippling during the pandemic but even in normal times, it is still unacceptable for litigants not to have immediate access to documents and court orders. During the pandemic, the lack of effective remote access to court proceedings, including access to a Help Center and an effective website, meant that many litigants were shut out of Court, facing lengthy delays without knowing the status of court operations. But this lack of technology, adequate staffing and uniform rules were all problems that existed for decades prior to the COVID-19 pandemic.

The emergence, however uneven, of remote technology and a growing recognition that the Family Court is under-resourced and that its in-person service model does not fit today's world should be a source of hope. The Court is now in a position, as it continues to recover from the pandemic, to address long-standing and deep-seated institutional challenges. The recommendations that follow are meant to address these challenges and should be embraced with urgency for two main reasons. First, the current backlog of cases requires immediate attention or else the aftereffects of the shutdown could be felt for years to come. Second, recent events have underscored the acute need to advance racial and social equity in our court system, a need underscored by the findings in Secretary Johnson's report. The Family Court, in particular, is truly a "People's Court," primarily serving unrepresented litigants, lower-income families and communities of color. Accordingly, these recommendations will not simply make the system more efficient but are essential for equal access to justice.

It should be further noted what these recommendations do not address. We recognize that many challenges in Family Court are the byproduct of New York's antiquated system of 11 separate trial courts and an overall lack of resources, including, among other things, an

insufficient number of judges. Accordingly, the Work Group urges legislative and executive action to address the underlying inequities in the court system. The Fund for Modern Courts is spearheading a coalition of organizations in support of the Chief Judge's proposal to simplify the courts through an amendment to the New York State Constitution.⁴⁸ The recommendations that follow, however, are intended to identify specific actions the Court can take immediately on its own to advance the rule of law for all families and children.

We recommend:

- The Family Court should create a **uniform system of filing, processing and tracking cases**. In the absence of such a system, litigants are often left in the dark about their cases and often have to submit papers in person. Even represented litigants have been disadvantaged to the extent their counsel are among the many who do not have access to UCMS. The Family Court should adopt NYSCEF, which is used effectively in the Supreme Court and other trial courts across the state. Although e-filing would be on a voluntary basis in Family Court (which is the fullest extent that current law allows), it would be a dramatic improvement over the antiquated and inadequate system in place now. Moreover, until such a modern system is in place, the Court should grant UCMS access to ALL attorneys in Family Court, even to the extent the legal service they are providing is limited in scope. To the extent practicable and safe, sufficient Court staff should be made available in person and remotely to help unrepresented litigants file documents.
- 2) The Family Court should provide the public with **regular statistical reporting**, by court Term (13 of them in one calendar year), on all Family Court proceedings, including, among other things, case totals, filings, dispositions, and some approximation of current delays. Greater transparency and accountability will better serve the public by informing it of the Family Court's current operations and what to expect as a litigant and providing a critical foundation for informed, targeted, and meaningful reform.
- 3) The Family Court needs an **effective**, **user-friendly website** (including mobile website) that comprehensively informs the public of current court operations and provides guidance to unrepresented litigants. The website should be in multiple languages, be kept up to date, and should include forms with easy-to-comprehend instructional guides.
- ditigants without access to adequate technology to participate in remote proceedings by providing access to the appropriate technology. In addition, the Court should provide accommodations for litigants without reliable space or privacy to remotely access their attorneys and the Court. We appreciate that OCA facilitated the creation of Public Access Terminal Court Hubs in Family Justice Centers and have made computer terminals available to unrepresented litigants inside courthouses. We strongly encourage the expansion of these efforts. This will require greater coordination with nonprofit organizations, including the Court's acceptance of donations of technology to be implemented in a fashion consistent with ethics rules and cybersecurity. Specially trained Court staff should be available to help litigants resolve technical

_

⁴⁸<u>https://simplifynycourts.org/; https://www.law.com/newyorklawjournal/2019/03/01/ny-lawmakers-see-court-reform-assigned-counsel-rate-hike-with-favor/.</u>

issues, and litigants should be given the option to appear by telephone in all videoconference proceedings.

- 5) The Family Court should adopt a **communications strategy** to ensure litigants and attorneys are kept up to date on the status of their cases as well as the status of Court operations generally. This would be accomplished through the Court website, a staffed telephone line, as well as text messaging or other forms of direct communication. The New York City Family Court Administration currently conducts meetings with certain institutional providers, attorneys, and other "stakeholders" in order to involve them in policy discussions and pass along information of Court improvements and procedures. In order to communicate more effectively with the broader public, these meetings should include a wider range of stakeholders and the substance of the meetings should be made available to the public. In the same vein, the Court should develop additional avenues of communication to reach unrepresented litigants. All public communications should be available in multiple languages, not merely English and Spanish.
- 6) The Family Court should provide **greatly enhanced training** for jurists in case management strategies and techniques in order to better serve the public, smoothly process cases, and address the backlog.
- 7) The Family Court should **assess its needs with respect to remote proceedings** to ensure that it purchases and utilizes up-to-date technology best suited for courtroom protocols. The Court must then implement and provide competent and coherent training in the use of this technology to its jurists and non-judicial staff and provide comprehensive IT backup and support staff.
- 8) To address the current backlog of cases and alleviate substantial delay, judges, staff and other resources should be moved from other trial courts as necessary and appropriate. Such **transfer of resources** must be implemented within a coherent and efficient framework. (See this Work Group's prior report, which provides background and includes recommendations concerning the temporary assignment of judges to the Family Court from other courts). 49
- 9) Especially with the advent of virtual proceedings and other innovations, the Family Court should **enact uniform procedural rules**. For example, the rules should specify the methods by which litigants introduce various forms of evidence in virtual and in-person proceedings. In addition, the rules should clarify when virtual proceedings are available, including broad acceptance of proceedings entirely by phone, so that there is greater consistency. As the Family Court continues to recover from the pandemic, the Court administration should engage with

_

⁴⁹The Work Group's earlier report details how the Family Court—which does not have a sufficient number of judges—relies by necessity on the assignment of "acting" judges on temporary leave from other courts. Our recommendations (published before the pandemic in December 2020) were intended to mitigate the delay and disruption resulting from judicial vacancies and transfers. *See* The Family Court Judicial Appointment and Assignment Process (December 15, 2020), available at https://www.nycbar.org/member-and-career-services/committees/reports-listing/reports/detail/the-family-court-judicial-appointment-and-assignment-process.

stakeholders and experts on a plan for the complete reopening of the Family Court along with any necessary safety protocols.

Work Group members, and those we interviewed, are acutely aware that the COVID-19 pandemic has presented remarkable challenges for all organizations serving New Yorkers and that the transition to remote work and the resulting embrace of technology have been unprecedented in scope. The new way forward offers the opportunity to improve our court system for the most vulnerable in society by applying what we have learned during this crisis. We are eager to work closely with the Family Court to ensure that we leverage this moment to reimagine how the Court can better ensure equal access to justice for all New Yorkers.

XIII. ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The Work Group wishes to thank the Chief Administrative Judge of the Courts of New York State, the Hon. Lawrence K. Marks, for his commitment to OCA's cooperation with this effort, and former Deputy Chief Administrative Judge of the New York City Courts, the Hon. George J. Silver, and former Administrative Judge of the New York City Family Court, the Hon. Jeanette Ruiz, for meeting and sharing information with us. The Work Group offers its profound appreciation to all the advocates, practitioners, and litigants who generously shared their frontline and institutional experience and insights. In particular, we wish to acknowledge significant contributions to the Report from Her Justice, The Children's Law Center, JCCA, Legal Information for Families Today (LIFT), New York Legal Assistance Group (NYLAG), Sanctuary for Families, and Safe Horizon. The Work Group also wishes to acknowledge the Hon. Daniel Turbow and Glenn Metsch-Ampel, co-chairs of the first phase of this group's efforts who, along with the Hon. Sidney Gribetz, worked closely with the current co-chairs in the preparation of this report. The Work Group benefited enormously from the invaluable substantive input and keen editing of Krusheeta Patel, John Prusakowski, and Lucy Wolf, Associates at Proskauer, Zachary Hennessee, Associate at Orrick, and Hanan Nouira, Fordham University School of Law LL.M. '21.

January 2022

The New York City Family Court COVID Work Group

Rene Kathawala, Pro Bono Counsel at Orrick and Work Group Co-Chair (rkathawala@orrick.com)

William C. Silverman, Partner and Head of Pro Bono at Proskauer, Work Group Co-Chair, and Chair of the Fund for Modern Courts (wsilverman@proskauer.com)

Members of the Work Group (affiliations for identification purposes only)

Sara Doody, The Legal Aid Society

Louise Feld, The Children's Law Center

Hon. Sidney Gribetz (Ret.)

Dennis Hawkins, The Fund for Modern Courts

Sara Hitzik, Segal & Geenberg LLP

Celeste Koeleveld, Clifford Chance LLP

Denise Kronstadt, The Fund for Modern Courts

Susan Lindenauer, Former General Counsel of the Legal Aid Society

Glenn Metsch-Ampel, Lawyers for Children

Dawne Mitchell, The Legal Aid Society

Fredda Monn, NYC Administration for Children's Services

Michael Porcelain, Comtech Telecommunications Corp.

Laura Russell, The Legal Aid Society

Heather Saslovsky, The Legal Aid Society

Lauren Shapiro, Brooklyn Defender Services

Karen Simmons, The Children's Law Center

Kim Susser, Law Office of Kim Susser

Peggy Tarvin, Lawyers for Children

Hon. Daniel Turbow (Ret.)

Hon. Ruth Jane Zuckerman (Ret.)

Endorsing City Bar Committees

Council on Children, Dawne Mitchell, Chair

Children and the Law Committee, Melissa J. Friedman and Rachel Stanton, Co-Chairs

Mental Health Law Committee, Karen P. Simmons, Chair

Pro Bono & Legal Services Committee, Nicole Fidler and Jessica M. Klein, Co-Chair

Previously Issued City Bar Reports of Note/Relevance

July 20, 2021, Letter from Council on Children (Dawne A. Mitchell, Chair) and Family Court and Family Law Committee (Michelle Burrell, Chair) to Judge Ruiz Regarding Equitable Access

to Justice in the NYC Family Courts, https://www.nycbar.org/member-and-career-services/committees/reports-listing/reports/detail/letter-to-judge-ruiz.

June 15, 2021, Letter from Working Group on Racial Equity in New York State Courts (Vidya Pappachan, Chair) to the Franklin H. Williams Judicial Commission Regarding their May 19, 2021, Meeting with New York City Family Court Stakeholders, https://www.nycbar.org/member-and-career-services/committees/reports-listing/reports/detail/racial-equity-in-courts-williams-commission-meeting.

June 12, 2021, Letter from Council on Children, Children and the Law Committee (Melissa J. Friedman, Chair) and Family Court and Family Law Committee to Court Officials Requesting COVID-19 Point Person for New York City Family Court, https://www.nycbar.org/member-and-career-services/committees/reports-listing/reports/detail/covid-19-point-person-for-new-york-city-family-court.

April 9, 2021, Report from Domestic Violence Committee (Amanda M. Beltz, Chair): Recommendations for New York City Virtual Family Court Proceedings, With Particular Focus on Matters Involving Litigants Who Are Survivors of Abuse, https://www.nycbar.org/member-and-career-services/committees/reports-listing/reports/detail/comments-on-virtual-trial-rules-domestic-violence-cases.

December 15, 2020, Report from Multi-Committee Working Group on The Family Court Judicial Appointment and Assignment Process (Glenn Metsch-Ampel and Hon. Daniel Turbow (ret.), Co-Chairs), https://www.nycbar.org/member-and-career-services/committees/reports-listing/reports/detail/the-family-court-judicial-appointment-and-assignment-process.